UTAH NATIONAL GUARD

12953 Minuteman Drive Draper, Utah 84020-9286

UTAH NATIONAL GUARD STATE EDUCATION PROGRAMS

Summary: This policy is in effect until superseded. It provides information and describes procedures for administering the Utah National Guard State Education incentive programs.

Applicability: This policy supersedes State Operations Policy 26-01 (dated 1 July 2025) and State Operations Policy 26-01-amended (dated 1 August 2025). It applies to all Utah Army and Air National Guard Soldiers and Airmen.

Proponent and Exception Authority: This policy is promoted by State Operations in conjunction with the Army Joint Force Headquarters—G1 (Manpower & Personnel) and the Air Guard Joint Force Headquarters. The Deputy Director of State Operations and the respective Assistant Adjutants General will coordinate with the Adjutant General (TAG) to approve exceptions to this policy that are consistent with State of Utah law and policy.

Interim Changes: Interim changes to this policy are only official if authenticated by the Adjutant General. This policy becomes obsolete when rescinded, amended, or extended.

Current Information: Education programs available to Utah Guard members can be found on the Utah National Guard official website: https://guard.utah.gov/education-services/.

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
CHAPTER 1/PROGRAM OVERVIEW	3
1-1. GENERAL	3
1-2. REFERENCES	3
1-3. PURPOSE	3
1-4. RESPONSIBILITIES	4
1-5. FUNDING	5
1-6. STATE FISCAL YEAR	5
1-7. SATISFACTORY PARTICIPANT	5
1-8 ELIGIBLE SCHOOLS	6
1-9. RECOUPMENT	6
1-10. EXCEPTIONS TO POLICY (ETP)	6
CHAPTER 2/STATE TUITION ASSISTANCE (STA) PROGRAM	7
2-1. GENERAL	8
2-2. ELIGIBILITY	8
2-3. SERVICE COMMITMENT	8
2-4. RATE OF PAYMENT STATE TUITION ASSISTANCE	9
2-5. AUTHORIZED USES	9
2-6. COURSE REQUIREMENTS	10
2-7. GUIDELINES	10
2-8. APPLICATION PROCEDURES	11
2-9. STA RECOUPMENT CRITERIA	12
2-10 SIMULTANEOUS MEMBERSHIP PROGRAM	13
2-11 EXCEPTION TO POLICY	13
CHAPTER 3/STATE TUITION WAIVER (STW) PROGRAM	14
3-1. STATE TUITION WAIVER PROGRAM OVERVIEW	14
3-2. PERIOD OF AWARD	14
3-3. ELIGIBILITY	14
3-4. ADMINISTRATION OF STATE WAIVER PROGRAM	15
3-5. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS	15

State Operations Policy 26-01-amended	1 December 2025
3-6. SERVICE REQUIREMENT	16
CHAPTER 4/STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT	
4-1 STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT OVERVIEW	17
4-2 ELIGIBILITY	17
4-3 SERVICE COMMITMENT	17
4-4 PAYMENT FOR STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT	18
4-5 AUTHORIZED USES	18
4-6 SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS	18
4-7 APPLICATION PROCEDURES	19
4-8 LOAN REPAYMENT RECOUPMENT	20
4-9 EXCEPTION TO POLICY	20
ANNEXES	20
ANNEX A STA STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT	21

ANNEX B SSLR STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

ANNEX C STA ETP FOR LATE APPLICATIONS

25

27

CHAPTER 1 PROGRAM OVERVIEW

1-1. GENERAL

The Utah legislature provides funds for state incentive programs for members of the Utah National Guard. This policy describes the eligibility criteria and procedures for administering the Utah National Guard state education programs.

1-2. REFERENCES

- a. Utah House Bill 19, Higher Education Financial Aid Amendments https://le.utah.gov/~2024/bills/static/HB0019.html
- b. AR 135-91, Service Obligations, Methods of Fulfillment, Participation Requirements, and Enforcement Provisions
 - c. Army Regulation 600-8-2, Suspension of Favorable Personnel Actions (Flag)
 - d. Air Force Instruction 36-2907, Adverse Administrative Actions
- e. DoD Instruction 1332.45, Retention Determinations for Non-Deployable Service Members
 - f. Utah House Bill 376, National Guard Amendments (2025 General Session)
- g. Utah House Bill 410 Military Tuition Waiver Amendments https://le.utah.gov/Session/2016/bills/static/HB0410.html
- h. Utah Code, Title 39A, Chapter 3, Part 2, Section 210 https://le.utah.gov/xcode/Title39A/Chapter3/39A-3-S201.html?v=C39A-3-S201_2025050507
- g. Any information about a student's state tuition assistance that appears in their education record at a covered institution is protected under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) privacy guidelines: https://studentprivacy.ed.gov/ferpa

1-3. PURPOSE

The purpose of the state educational benefit programs is to:

- a. Attract and retain skilled personnel by providing financial assistance for higher education to eligible Utah National Guard members, thereby rewarding their commitment to service in support of both state and federal missions.
- b. Incentivize members currently assigned to the Inactive National Guard (ING) or Individual Ready Reserve (IRR) to re-affiliate with the Utah National Guard.

- c. Incentivize current Utah National Guard members to extend their commitment with the Utah National Guard.
- d. Improve the qualifications of Utah National Guard members through higher education.

1-4. RESPONSIBILITIES

- a. The Adjutant General. The Adjutant General (TAG) is responsible for overall policies, guidance, administration, implementation, and proper utilization of the Utah National Guard incentive programs, including the State Tuition Assistance and Recruiting and Retention programs.
- b. State Operations. The Deputy Director of State Operations administers the program for TAG and is the official designee of TAG for such purposes. State Operations is also responsible for obligating and accounting for all funds supporting tuition assistance programs. State Operations personnel are also responsible for the Student School Loan Repayment (SSLR) program, with support from both the Army and Air Force personnel sections.
- c. The Joint Force Headquarters. The Army and Air Force JFHQs support the program for their respective components. The Assistant Adjutants General may grant further sub-delegation of responsibilities. The Air Guard Joint Force Headquarters can delegate duties to the Flight Services Support Squadron.
- d. Recruiting and Retention Battalion (Army) and Air JFHQ recruiters to include Battalion Retention Non-Commissioned Officers (NCOs) and Air National Guard (ANG) Retention Office Manager. The Recruiting and Retention organizations use all incentives offered by the State of Utah to promote recruiting and retention.
- e. National Guard Commanders. Commanders at all levels ensure that members of their commands are informed about the Utah National Guard state incentive programs. They must ensure that members receiving state incentives remain eligible.
- f. National Guard Members. National Guard members (both Army and Air) are responsible for applying for the education benefits to which they are eligible, in accordance with the guidelines in this policy. Current benefits and applications will be available on the Utah National Guard Education website: https://guard.utah.gov/education-services/
- g. The G1-Education Office supports the State Tuition Waiver (STW) and the State Tuition Assistance (STA) programs by verifying eligibility, providing education counseling, and verifying fulfillment of member obligations before out-processing. The G1-Education office also supplies support to State Operations for the Student School Loan Repayment (SSLR) program.

- h. The 151st Force Support Squadron/Force Development Office (151 FSS/FDO) supports the State Tuition Waiver (STW) and the State Tuition Assistance (STA) programs by verifying eligibility and verifying fulfillment of member obligations before out-processing. The 151 FSS/FDO also supplies support to State Operations for the Student School Loan Repayment (SSLR) program.
- i. Members of the National Guard participating in the State Tuition Assistance Program. Students are responsible for:
 - (1) Seeking all available outside sources of funding before applying for State Tuition Assistance.
 - (2) Applying through the State Tuition Assistance Portal and ensuring all required documentation is included.
 - (3) Submit all required documentation to support the tuition request.
 - (4) Coordinating with school officials to resolve any questions or discrepancies identified by education support staff.
 - (5) Submit required documentation between 60 and 8 days before the first day of class. This is the preferred window and ensures the highest chance of funding.
 - (6) If required information becomes available outside of the 60–8 day window, the member should still submit the request as soon as possible. Accurate, complete submissions are prioritized for processing, even if late. Applications are processed on a first-come, first-served basis, and funding may be depleted before all submissions are reviewed. Timely and accurate submissions increase the likelihood of approval.

1-5. FUNDING

Funding for the state education benefit programs is limited to the specific amounts appropriated by the Utah State Legislature. The State of Utah and the Utah National Guard bear no obligation to continue the program if legislative funding authorization ceases or if available funds are fully depleted. Furthermore, the Utah National Guard retains the authority to amend or discontinue the State Education Program at any time, without advance notice, when deemed necessary for the effective management of the force or its resources.

1-6. STATE FISCAL YEAR

The state fiscal year (FY) begins on 1 July and ends on 30 June. Funding is appropriated and distributed by the state FY. Funding limits can depend on the state or federal FYs (or both), depending on the individual situation. Deadlines for STA student submissions may be earlier than the end of the fiscal year to meet state deadlines.

1-7. SATISFACTORY PARTICIPANT

A Utah National Guard service member is considered a satisfactory participant if:

a. They are an active drilling member of their unit of assignment or attachment. An active drilling member is defined as satisfactorily attending monthly drills and annual training (AT).

- b. They are a satisfactory participant (Army) as defined in Army Regulation 135-91, "Service Obligations, Methods of Fulfillment, Participation Requirements, and Enforcement Provisions" or (Air) as defined by Air National Guard Instruction 36-2001, "Personnel Management of Training and Operational Support within the Air National Guard."
- c. They are currently deployable per the criteria required for their current duty position. If not, they must be making diligent and measurable progress toward becoming deployable.
- d. They are not under Suspension of Favorable Personnel Action (SFPA) / Unfavorable Information File (UIF): IAW references Army Regulation 600-8-2, Air Force Instruction 36-2907, and DoD Instruction 1332.45, as applicable. Service members are ineligible for state tuition benefit programs if flagged for any reason, resulting in the inability to extend their service with the Utah National Guard or deploy/mobilize.
- e. They have a current and passing Army Fitness Test (AFT) score with an effective date within 12 months and Army Body Composition Program (ABCP) that complies with Army standards; the effective date must be within eight months of the contract signature date for the incentive. Airmen must have passed the last recorded Fitness Assessment (FA) and be compliant with Air Force standards, with an effective date within 12 months of the contract signature date for the incentive. Soldiers and Airmen with medical waivers for their respective fitness tests <u>are</u> eligible for the program

1-8 ELIGIBLE SCHOOLS

STA funds, including loan repayment, may be used for any accredited college, university, or technical school, including FAA-approved certificate programs. Exceptions to Policy (ETPs) may be requested for non-accredited programs that directly support the mission of the Utah National Guard. The primary site to verify school eligibility is: https://ope.ed.gov/dapip/#/home.

1-9, RECOUPMENT

- a. Funds paid under the Utah National Guard education benefit program may be recouped from individuals who fail to complete the terms outlined in this policy and its respective annexes.
- b. Further details regarding recoupment procedures are explained within the applicable chapter for each program.

1-10. EXCEPTIONS TO POLICY (ETP)

a. When extenuating circumstances exist, a request for an ETP may be initiated. The respective service AAG will coordinate with the Deputy Director for State Operations before presenting the recommendation to TAG.

b. Exceptions to Policy are for tuition assistance above the \$7,000 limit, reduction of the commitment to the Utah National Guard, or payment for additional post-secondary degrees beneficial to the Utah National Guard.

CHAPTER 2 STATE TUITION ASSISTANCE (STA) PROGRAM

2-1. GENERAL

The State of Utah sponsors the state tuition assistance program. The state legislature appropriates funding for the program annually.

2-2. ELIGIBILITY

The program is available to current active members of the Utah National Guard who are:

- a. Serving satisfactorily per paragraphs 1-7.
- b. The State Tuition Assistance (STA) program is intended to function as a secondary funding source for eligible service members. Consequently, any member who qualifies for primary financial aid programs—meaning funds paid directly to the school of choice—must first apply for those programs and submit the corresponding official financial documentation within the STA portal before requesting STA funds. This mandatory documentation includes, but is not limited to: Federal Tuition Assistance (FTA-Army), Military Tuition Assistance (MTA-Air), university-sponsored scholarships, external scholarships paid directly to the school, or any other form of financial aid paid to the educational institution on the member's behalf. Once all primary funding is applied and documented, STA will cover the remaining tuition and fees, up to the actual cost and/or FY limits (\$7,000).
- c. Service members attending school full-time (12-18 credit hours) at a Utah Public College or University are required to apply for the State Tuition Waiver (STW) before applying for STA. A list of applicable schools is available at www.ushe.edu.
- d. Post-9/11 GI Bill is a last-payer benefit. However, Service Members who choose to receive the GI Bill at the 100% eligibility rate—including BAH—would not be eligible for State Tuition Assistance (STA), as the STA benefit cannot exceed 100% of tuition. Members less than 100% through the Post 9/11 GI Bill should apply for both Post 9/11 and STA to maximize their benefits.

2-3. SERVICE COMMITMENT

a. At the time of application, the Utah National Guard member's expiration term of service (ETS) or mandatory removal date (MRD) should be at least two years beyond the end date of any courses for which funding is requested for any degree. For all members, officers, and enlisted, if the service member does not have two years remaining on their formal commitment to serve in the Utah National Guard, they must complete two years of service with the Utah National Guard or face recoupment of the funds from the state of Utah.

2-4. RATE OF PAYMENT STATE TUITION ASSISTANCE

- a. The Utah National Guard will pay tuition and fees for eligible coursework at accredited post-secondary institutions or approved FAA-Certified Programs. Payments are made directly to the school or program, up to a maximum benefit of \$7,000 per State Fiscal Year (1 July 30 June). Allowable "Fees" include special course fees, required textbooks, and necessary course-related materials. STA cannot pay for late fees, interest for late payments, or personal debts.
- b. Requests for Exceptions to Policy (ETP) must be submitted for: an increased annual limit or funding, a reduction in the service commitment to the Utah National Guard, or payment for additional post-secondary degrees that are deemed beneficial to the Utah National Guard. These requests are first coordinated through the service component Assistant Adjutant General (AAG). The AAG will then coordinate with the Deputy Director for State Operations before the final recommendation is formally presented to The Adjutant General (TAG) for decision.

2-5. AUTHORIZED USES

- a. The STA will pay for a degree higher than the level of degree the service member was previously awarded for which any form of STA was used. For example, STA will pay for one Associate's, one Bachelor's, one Master's, and one Doctorate. ETPs may be requested for additional programs that are in the best interest of the Utah National Guard.
- b. Only courses for one program can be funded at a time. Requests for funding toward multiple and concurrent education programs will be denied. Prerequisites for accredited programs are authorized for STA funding.
- c. The STA may be used to fund tuition, fees, and books for one degree at each level for each service member who applies:
 - (1) Associate degree. Exception: Because they are tied to an Air Force Specialty Code (AFSC), STA may be used to complete multiple Associate Degrees from the Community College of the Air Force.
 - (2) Bachelor's Degree
 - (3) Master's Degree
 - (4) Professional or Doctorate Degree
 - d. A certificate or credential can be funded regardless of current degree level
 - (1) License / Certificate from a state technical school
 - (2) Professional Certificate (undergraduate or post-bachelor/graduate certificate)

(3) FAA Certificate programs (e.g., Airline Transport Pilot)

2-6. COURSE REQUIREMENTS

- a. Payment is authorized for:
- (1) Accredited college, university, or technical schools or FAA certificate programs. ETPs may be requested for non-accredited programs that directly support the mission of the Utah National Guard.
- (2) Course(s) must be required within the student's approved degree plan. However, students may also enroll in courses from other universities *outside* their degree plan if the class does not incur any additional tuition cost. This applies to schools that charge a flat tuition rate for full-time enrollment (typically 12–18 credit hours per semester)—meaning the added course does not increase the total tuition billed.
 - b. Payment is **not** authorized for:
 - (1) Course(s) not required for the program.
 - (2) Exam prep course(s) or exams (e.g., GRE, GMAT, LSAT, EMT).
 - (3) Course(s) that earn continuing education units (CEUs) that are required to maintain professional licensure (these courses may be paid through other funding sources). Payment may be authorized for some certificate program courses that earn CEUs if they are academic in nature, not required to obtain or maintain professional licensure, and are conducted by an accredited institution. The education services officer is the approval authority for certificate courses that earn CEUs.
 - (4) Study abroad fees.
 - (5) If a course is not completed or not dropped within the school's official drop window, costs will be recouped from the service member.
- c. If a student receives a tuition waiver (no tuition paid by the student or the fee statement indicates no tuition charges), tuition payment is not authorized. Fees may be eligible for payment.
- d. Service members must make satisfactory academic progress by receiving a grade of C or better, or equivalent, in each class to avoid recoupment.

2-7. GUIDELINES

a. Here is the process:

- (1) Member Submission: The service member submits the application and all supporting financial documentation through the STA portal: https://guard-statetuition.utah.gov/login
- (2) State Education Review: The State Education Office reviews the submitted application package for completeness and eligibility.
- (3) State Finance Review: The State Finance Office reviews the application for fund authorization.
- (4) Member Notification: The service member receives a completed, signed STA authorization form (PDF document).
- (5) Member Action to School: The service member submits the final, completed STA authorization form to their school's bursar or financial office.
- (6) School Invoicing: The school's bursar/finance office submits the tuition/fee invoice, along with a copy of the STA authorization form, to SMD@utah.gov for payment processing.
- (7) Final Payment: The State Finance Office processes and sends the authorized payment directly to the school.
- b. All tuition and fees requested must be invoiced from and paid directly to the school.
- c. Service members will update their statement of agreement (SOA) each time they submit a tuition request through the portal.
- c. Service members must ensure that their schools submit an invoice for payment to the State Operations department no later than 30 days from the last official day of the course/term.
- d. The school's invoice will determine the amount of payment. Invoices must list certain other benefits paid directly to the school, including:
 - (1) Federal Tuition Assistance (FTA)
- (2) Invoices must list all Chapter 33/Post 9-11 GI Bill or any other federal GI Bill chapter paid directly to the school. The combination of GI Bill benefits and state school tuition and fee payment program must not exceed 100 percent of tuition and/or fee costs.
 - (3) Scholarship information resulting in a reduction of tuition and fees.
- (4) ROTC tuition scholarship recipients do not report room and board scholarships or stipends.

2-8, APPLICATION PROCEDURES

a. Service member's Responsibilities:

- (1) Submit required application forms and documents at least eight days before the start date. Current applications are available on the Utah National Guard's public-facing website: https://guard.utah.gov/education-services/.
 - (a) An invoice that clearly shows the amount of tuition and fee charges; the institution must provide this.
 - (b) Official Student Schedule with the student's name on it
 - (c) Applications are submitted through the portal: <u>quard-statetuition.utah.gov</u>
 - (2) Submit a grade report within 30 days of course completion. Grade submissions are completed through the portal.
 - (3) Students are responsible for ensuring the school submits an invoice to the state no later than 30 days from the last official day of the course/term.

c. Education Office Responsibilities:

- (1) Ensure the service member is eligible and that the service member has agreed to the Statement of Agreement (SOA) in the portal.
- (2) Process applications.
 - (a) Verify all application information is correct. This may require contacting the student.
 - (b) Calculate the actual amount to obligate.
- (3) Deny incomplete requests for those service members who are not satisfactory participants according to paragraphs 1-7.
- (4) Request, receive, and track grades for all funded STA applications. Notify State Operations of all non-passing grades to allow for the Recoupment of funds.

2-9. STA RECOUPMENT CRITERIA

- a. If voluntarily separated or separated "for cause" before completion of their two-year commitment, as per paragraph 2-3, service members will be subject to full recoupment of awarded and/or used funds paid to the school.
- b. If the student has an incomplete course, the service member will be required to pay back the State of Utah.

c. If the student has not maintained satisfactory academic progress (C in each class), the service member will be required to pay back or set up a payment plan with the State of Utah before requesting any additional state tuition assistance funding.

2-10. SIMULTANEOUS MEMBERSHIP PROGRAM (SMP)

Members of the Utah National Guard participating in the SMP program are exempt from the two-year commitment because they incur a service commitment through their commissioning source.

2-11. EXCEPTION TO POLICY

- a. When extenuating circumstances exist, a request for an ETP may be initiated. The respective service AAG will coordinate with the Deputy Director for State Operations before presenting the recommendation to TAG.
- b. Exceptions to Policy are for state tuition assistance above the \$7,000 limit, reduction of the commitment to the Utah National Guard, or payment for additional post-secondary degrees beneficial to the Utah National Guard.

CHAPTER 3 STATE TUITION WAIVER (STW) PROGRAM - SCHOLARSHIP

3-1 STATE TUITION WAIVER PROGRAM OVERVIEW

The State Tuition Waiver Program (STW) is a competitive waiver program to support a Utah National Guard member's professional and/or personal self-development goal in pursuit of a higher education degree. This program is based on a student's academic standing (Grade Point Average) and additional application requirements. STW is a "waiver" program. This means that no benefit payment(s) will ever be made directly to the student; the university will cover the tuition.

3-2 PERIOD OF AWARD

The recipient's waiver is awarded on a school-year basis. Service members may simultaneously use the STW for tuition and the STA for fees and course materials. Service Members must submit a new application for each successive school year. Participation in the STW program must be clearly annotated during the STA application process to prevent overpayment.

3-3 ELIGIBILITY

- a. The individual must be a UTNG (Army or Air) service member, a satisfactory participant, as listed in paragraph 1-7 above, to be eligible for receipt of STW program benefits.
- b. Students must be attending a Utah public, degree-granting institution to be able to apply for and participate in this program. Utah public technical colleges <u>do not</u> participate in the STW program. The following schools are participants in the STW program: Salt Lake Community College, Snow College, Southern Utah University, University of Utah, Utah State University, Utah Tech University, Utah Valley University, and Weber State University.
- c. State Operations is responsible for determining the eligibility requirements and order of merit. The grading rubric will be posted on the website: https://guard.utah.gov/stw/. UTNG Members must comply with the following criteria:
 - (1) Receive acceptance as a student to an eligible institution for the upcoming school year
 - (2) Will be attending the school as a full-time (12-18 credit hours) student. Students may apply for one or both semesters of the STW program
 - (3) Is the Military Occupational Specialty (MOS)/Air Force Specialty Code (AFSC) qualified
 - (4) Must not have a 4-year degree

- (5) Must not be receiving DOD-funded scholarships for Tuition and Fees
- d. Applications for the State Tuition Waiver Program open on 1 January and end on 30 April of each year. Applications are submitted through the STA portal. Instructions can be found on the website: https://guard.utah.gov/stw/
- e. Active Guard Reserve members, contact:
- (1) For **AGR Air Guard** members, contact your Education Support Officer representative at Hill Air Force Base for available education support programs. Information can be found on the website: https://guard.utah.gov/federal-programs/.
- (2) **AGR Army Guard** members must contact the Education Services Officer in Draper: ng.ut.utarng.mbx.education-office@army.mil
- f. Utah National Guard Members serving on active duty for the entire length of the course should seek federal funding, where practical, through their respective service component's active-duty Education Servicing Center. https://guard.utah.gov/federal-programs/.
- g. All members of the Utah National Guard may qualify for monetary assistance to complete educational goals through Federal Tuition Assistance and State Tuition Assistance regardless of their active-duty status.

3-4 ADMINISTRATION OF STATE WAIVER PROGRAM

For STW recipients, respective school administrations may require a higher grade point average (GPA). The minimum required cumulative GPA for STW is a grade of 2.0 or better, or the equivalent (e.g., Utah State University currently requires a 2.75 GPA).

3-5 APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS

- a. UTNG members are required to apply for the Utah National Guard State Tuition Waiver Application if they are attending full-time (12-18 credit hours) at a participating school before applying for federal or state tuition assistance programs.
- b. Students must apply between 1 January and 30 April before the school year in which they will attend. If waivers are still available after the award period, service members may be able to apply after the deadline.
 - c. Members will submit applications through the STA portal: <u>quard-statetuition.utah.qov</u>.
 - (1) Members will be ranked based on their cumulative GPA.

- (2) Members are required to submit a short essay (one page, double-spaced) explaining their justification for receiving the State Tuition Waiver (STW). This essay will be used as a tie-breaker in instances of identical GPAs.
 - (3) The most recent school transcript (high school or college) is required. Unofficial copies are accepted, but must clearly include the service member's name and the school's name.
 - (4) Scholarship Cadets. Cadets must submit a memo from their ROTC Professor of Military Science verifying that they are not receiving Guaranteed Reserve Forces Duty Scholarships (GRFDSP) for tuition.

3-6 SERVICE COMMITMENT

- a. At the time of application, the Utah National Guard member's expiration term of service (ETS) or mandatory removal date (MRD) should be at least two years beyond the end date of any courses for which funding is requested for any degree. For all members, officers, and enlisted, if the service member does not have two years remaining on their formal commitment to serve in the Utah National Guard, they must complete two years of service with the Utah National Guard or face recoupment of the funds from the state of Utah.
- b. Members of the Utah National Guard participating in the Simultaneous Membership Program (SMP) are exempt from the two-year commitment because they incur a service commitment through their commissioning source.

CHAPTER 4 STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT

4-1 STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT OVERVIEW

- a. In 2025, the Utah legislature added authorization, under the State Tuition Assistance umbrella, to allow repayment of school loans for current members of the Utah National Guard. If the legislature does not authorize future funding or if funds are depleted, neither the State of Utah nor the Utah National Guard is obligated to continue the program. In addition, the state loan repayment program can be changed at any time to meet the needs of the Utah National Guard. If the legislature does not authorize future funding or if funds are depleted, neither the State of Utah nor the Utah National Guard is obligated to continue the program.
- b. Each eligible member may receive benefits under <u>either</u> the State Tuition Assistance (STA) or Student School Loan Repayment (SSLR) once per state fiscal year (1 July to 30 June). Applications submitted for both programs in the same fiscal year will result in disqualification from both benefits for that period.
- c. For FY2026, beginning 1 July 2025, there will be a limited number of loan repayments issued. After the limit is reached, a short waitlist will be established based on the date the member <u>completed</u> their application. On or after 1 January 2026, the status of the State tuition program will be assessed for additional loan repayments. At that time, the first-come, first-served window for applications will open. Details can be found on the website: https://guard.utah.gov/sslr/.

4-2. ELIGIBILITY

- a. The program is available to current active members of the Utah National Guard who:
 - (1) are serving satisfactorily per paragraphs 1-7.
 - (2) Have <u>completed</u> an accredited degree program at any level, from an associate degree through a doctoral program.
 - (3) This loan repayment is for the first degree (at any level of post-secondary education)
 - (4) Members must choose either the State Tuition Assistance or the Student School Loan Repayment (SSLR) each fiscal year. Members who apply for SSLR must certify that they have not applied for or received State Tuition Assistance benefits for the same state fiscal year

4-3. SERVICE COMMITMENT

a. By signing the statement of agreement letter (Annex B), the service member agrees to a two-year service commitment to the Utah National Guard. Loan repayments will be recouped if the commitment is not fulfilled.

4-4, PAYMENT FOR THE STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT

a. The Utah National Guard will make payments directly to the loan servicer for qualifying student loans, up to a maximum of \$7,000 per state fiscal year. Payments are contingent upon available appropriations and subject to verification of loan status and academic completion as described in Section 4-6 below. This benefit cannot be combined with the State Tuition Assistance program during the same fiscal year.

4-5. AUTHORIZED USES

- a. Service members eligible for Federal Student Loan Repayment programs <u>ARE</u> eligible for the Student School Loan Repayment.
- b. Use of the State Loan Repayment Plan is limited to one program per degree level. Members who have previously received either tuition assistance or loan repayment for a completed degree of a given level (e.g., associate, bachelor's) may not receive repayment for a second degree of the same or lower level. Exceptions may be considered only under policy paragraph 4-9 below.
 - (1) Members who use <u>State Tuition Assistance</u> to complete a bachelor's degree may not seek loan repayment for a second bachelor's degree or associate degree, but may seek loan repayment or State Tuition Assistance for a Master's degree or higher.
 - (2) Members who use <u>loan repayment benefits</u> for an associate degree are not eligible for additional repayment benefits for another associate degree, but may seek State Tuition Assistance or Loan Repayment for a bachelor's degree or higher.

4-6. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS

- a. **Loan Statement**: A current statement from the loan servicer dated within the past 60 days, which must include:
 - (1) The borrower's name (must match the employee's legal name)
 - (2) The name, address, and contact number for the loan servicer
 - (3) The loan account number (with sensitive information redacted as appropriate)
 - (4) The type of loan (e.g., federal Direct Loan, FFEL, or private loan)
 - (5) The original loan amount and current outstanding balance
 - (6) The loan's status (e.g., in repayment, deferment, forbearance, or delinguent)
 - (7) The interest rate and repayment terms
 - (8) Other info as requested by State Operations

- b. **Proof of Loan Origination**: Documentation confirming the loan's origination date and proof that the loan was used solely for qualified education expenses. This may include:
- (1) A copy of the original loan agreement or promissory note
- (2) School financial aid records
- (3) Official correspondence from the loan servicer
- c. Proof of degree completion
- (1) Copy of <u>ALL</u> official diplomas awarded (associate degree or higher). Members will only be eligible for reimbursement for the first degree at each level.

4-7. APPLICATION PROCEDURES

- a. Service member's Responsibilities:
- (1) Submit required application forms and documents as directed on our website: https://guard.utah.gov/sslr/.
 - (a) Student School Loan Repayment SSLR application
 - (b) Statement of Agreement updated annually.
 - (c) Copy of ALL official diplomas
 - (d) Invoice or loan documentation that clearly shows the amount of tuition and fee charges; this must be provided by the institution or loan agency. These dates must be before the degree is awarded.
 - b. Education Officer Responsibilities:
 - (1) Ensure the service member is eligible and that the service member has a signed Statement of Agreement (SOA) on file.
 - (2) Ensure all paperwork is complete.
 - c. State Operations
 - (1) Process applications.
 - (a) Verify all application information is correct. This may require contacting the student's school or the loan agency.
 - (b) Calculate the actual amount to obligate (not to exceed \$7000 per fiscal year).

(2) Deny incomplete payment requests or requests for those service members who are not satisfactory participants according to paragraphs 1-7.

4-8. LOAN REPAYMENT RECOUPMENT CRITERIA

a. If voluntarily separated or separated "for cause" before completion of their two-year commitment, as per paragraph 2-3, service members will be subject to full recoupment of awarded and/or used funds paid to the loan servicer.

4-9. EXCEPTION TO POLICY (ETP)

- a. Exceptions to the provisions in this chapter may be requested under limited, mission-essential circumstances. All ETPs must:
- (1) Be submitted in writing
- (2) Include full justification and documentation, and
- (3) Clearly state the benefit requested and the reason for deviation from standard policy.
- b. The Adjutant General may grant exceptions to policy with the concurrence of the Director of State Operations and Assistant Adjutant General. Approval of an exception is at the discretion of the approval authorities and does not establish precedent

BOYACK.DANIE BOYACK.DANIEL.DAVID.11583 BOYACK.DANIEL.DAVID.115833 35464 Date: 2025.12.15 20:20:38-07:00

DANIEL D. BOYACK Major General The Adjutant General

DISTRIBUTION:

A (Army) F (Air)

ANNEXES

Annex A STA Statement of Agreement (included in the STA Portal application) Annex B Student School Loan Repayment Statement of Agreement

Annex C STW Application

ANNEX A STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT (SOA)

UTAH NATIONAL GUARD (ARMY and AIR) STATE TUITION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (STA)

GUIDELINES

1. AUTHORITY

State Operations Policy 26-01

2. PRIVACY ACT INFORMATION

State Tuition Assistance (STA) forms may include information protected under the Privacy Act 1974. To review and approve STA requests, I authorize STA administrators to forward applicable STA applications and associated forms to my non-military email address.

4. AUTHORIZED RATES

The State of Utah, through the UTNG, may pay up to 100% of my tuition assistance or \$7000 for loan repayment based on the following caps and guidelines:

- a. For awardees of the State Tuition Assistance, an annual cap of \$7,000 towards tuition, fees, and course materials paid directly to the institution. Students requesting more than \$7,000 should apply for an ETP.
- b. I agree to pay the remaining amount and any other costs not paid by the State of Utah.
- c. STA is authorized on a course-by-course basis, and no changes will be made in the courses or dollar amount for which STA is approved without the approval of the appropriate Education Office. Changes to previously approved STA must be made within 30 days of the class start date.
- d. I will use STA funding for a course (or courses) required to complete my degree or certificate plan. I must submit proof or validation of my degree plan or certificate program, along with my grades, no later than 30 days after completing my approved course(s). The degree plan and grade certification will be submitted on page 2 of the approved STA application.
- e. STA will not be approved to fund a course more than once unless the UTNG member has repaid the funds for the class that was previously taken.
 - f. By signing this letter, the service member agrees to a commitment of two years to

the Utah National Guard. This amount is eligible for recoupment if the promise is not fulfilled. Reimbursements will not be paid directly to the service member.

4. ELIGIBILITY

a. I am a Utah National (participant) in my unit.	Guard service member in good standing (satisfactory
	ed, or was ineligible for funding through the State Tuition Tuition Assistance (FTA) programs, and (choose one):
(1) Associate, Bachelor's	l am in pursuit of my first degree at the s, and Graduate levels
	<u>or</u>
(2) Associate, Bachelor, funding for my previo	I am pursuing an additional degree at the and Graduate levels, and the STA or STW provided no us degree at this same level.
	ng UTNG STA, I incur the following obligation. Failure to result in the recoupment of all or a portion of my UTNG
lower) degree. Members of t Membership Program (SMP	I intend to stay in the Utah National Guard for two nticipated completion date for a Bachelor's Degree (or the Utah National Guard participating in the Simultaneous) are exempt from the two-year commitment because they through their commissioning source.
bdischarged "for cause", the a which I separated from the g	I understand that if I separate voluntarily or am amount of STA funds invoiced for the semester during guard will be recouped by State Operations.
6. GRADES	
C or above for each course.	I understand that I am required to achieve a grade of If I fail to attain the minimum grade, I will be required to pay of be eligible for any further STA until the state is repaid.
which I received UTNG STA approved STA application. F	I will provide the State Education Office with proof of proved courses within 30 days of completing the class for a Grade certification will be submitted on page 2 of the Failure to do so will suspend further STA funding until the complies with all STA requirements.

7. CLASS/COURSE SUBMISSION and CHANGES

a.	I may submit my STA request up to 60 days (but not
	less than eight) before the class/semester starts.
b.	I understand that I am responsible for providing a
	copy of my approved State Tuition Assistance form to my school accounting office within ten days of STA approval. Failure to do so may interrupt or deny STA
	invoicing and payment to the school.

8. DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS

- a. STA is authorized in combination with all GI Bill chapters. GI Bill programs that pay toward tuition and fees are structured as last-pay; STA can be applied up to the maximum authorized rate of \$7,000 per fiscal year, and the school will process the remaining costs, subject to compliance with the current VA School Certifying Official Handbook.
- b. FTA funds are a "first payer," which means that FTA funds must be used before applying STA benefits.
- c. No funding supplied by the STA program can be refunded to the student. Any overages resulting from previously accepted/applied tuition-only programs should be reduced from the amount requested from STA.
- d. Any applicable requirements for additional funding or use of funds in conjunction with other monetary sources will follow guidelines set by existing policy.
- e. Members must choose either STA or Student School Loan Repayment each fiscal year.

9. WITHDRAWAL

I agree to reimburse the UTNG for the STA funds paid if I withdraw from a course, except for reasons beyond my control, as determined by the Education Services Officer (ESO) or designated representative.

10. RECOUPMENT OF FUNDING

Applicants are responsible for notifying the Education Office of any changes to approved coursework, such as class changes, drops, or withdrawals.

a. If a student withdraws from a class after the school-designated "withdrawal period," the school may still bill the State Operations Finance department for that class. Unless the student can provide clear, incontestable evidence that the course was dropped due to unforeseen circumstances, such as extreme illness or mobilization with less than 30 days' notice, the student will be required to repay the entire charge for that

course to the State of Utah, under the STA program policy guidelines.

- b. Students who fail to make satisfactory progress in a course (grade of C or equivalent) or receive an F, E, W, or I ("I" referring to incomplete coursework that was not finished within 120 days) will incur a recoupment of the funds.
- c. The member must pay all recoupments before a future STA application will be approved.

11. PERIOD OF AGREEMENT

This SOA will remain in effect for the entire STA FY in which it is signed. A new SOA must be signed each FY the soldier/airman receives UTNG STA.

MEMBER ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT I agree to all the above conditions.					
Name (Last, First, MI)	Rank/Grade	Unit	 Date		
Signature		_			
Address (Street, City, S	State, Zip)	_			
Phone		 Email	Address		

ANNEX B STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT (SOA) STUDENT SCHOOL LOAN REPAYMENT

GUIDELINES

1. AUTHORITY

State Operations Policy 26-01

2. PRIVACY ACT INFORMATION

State Tuition Assistance (STA) forms may include information protected under the Privacy Act 1974. To review and approve STA requests, I authorize STA administrators to forward applicable STA applications and associated forms to my non-military email address.

3. AUTHORIZED RATES

The State of Utah, through the UTNG, may pay up to \$7000 for student loan repayment based on the following requirements:

- a. I agree to submit ALL of my post-secondary degrees with my application.
- b. I agree to a commitment of two years to the Utah National Guard, eligible for recoupment if the promise is not fulfilled.
 - c. Reimbursements will be paid directly to the loan agency.

4. ELIGIBILITY

astanding (satisfa	I am a Utah National Guard service member in good ctory participant) in my unit.
	The loan repayment is for my FIRST degree at elor's, Master's, or Doctorate level.
	I am NOT applying for the State Tuition Assistance Members must choose either STA or SSLR each fiscal year.
-	receiving SSLR, I incur the following obligation. Failure to complete result in the recoupment of all or part of my SSLR.
	I intend to stay in the Utah National Guard for two ubmission date for the loan repayment.

bIf I sepa I will have the amount of loan repayment		arily or am discharged "for cause," recouped by the State of Utah.
6. DIPLOMAS		
a. I agree to submit a copy of all of my paperwork.	/ post-secor	ndary diplomas with the submission
7. DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS		
a. Student School Loan Repayment (S Federal Loan Repayment Plans.	SSLR) is aut	thorized in combination with all
8. PERIOD OF AGREEMENT This SOA will remain in effect for the entile SOA must be signed each FY the soldier.		
MEMBER ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND I agree to all the above conditions.	AGREEME	NT
Name (Last, First, MI) Rank/Grade	Unit	Date
Signature		
Address (Street, City, State, Zip)	_	
Phone	 Email	Address

26

ANNEX C STW APPLICATION

The STW application process will be through the STA Portal beginning 1 January 2026. https://guard-statetuition.utah.gov/

> THIS INFORMATION IS SUBJECT TO THE PRIVACY ACT OF 1974
>
> Application for Utah National Guard STATE TUITION WAIVER

I. TUITI	ON AWARD: Equivalent to the o	ost of full-time tuitio	n (12-18 credit hou	rs) for the academic school year.	
II. EL	IGIBILITY: Utah National Guard	d members who:			
2) wi 3) are 4) do 5) are 6) are	we been accepted as a student at a ill be attending school as a full-time MOS/AFSC qualified (except Co not have a 4-year degree e not on Active Duty (AGR/ADO) e considered Utah residents by the we an ETS that extends at least two	ne student adets) S) (some exceptions) school they will be a	ttending	for the next school year starting in the fall ool year	
III. AP	I. APPLICATION PACKET MUST INCLUDE:				
b) Fo schol c) Sh to yo d) Co	larship for tuition (Cadeis only) nort Essay (less than two pages, typ ur program of study.	ofessor of Military Sc ped, double-spaced) b	ience (PMS) or Ass alghlighting what yo	sistant PMS verifying that the Cadet does not have a our educational goals and future plans are as related verage (GPA) (Check applicable block and provide	
į	Beginning freshman: Submit a c Continuing college student: List		start with most rec Transcript atta Transcript atta Transcript atta	ached ached	
e) Ma	ark one of the following boxes. Or	aly mark the Fall/Spri	Transcript atta ng semester boxes	if you are graduating this year and will not need the	
waiv	er for the full year.	Total Control of the	Sarandar advers	A Transfer of the Contract of	
1	Full school year	Fall semester	1.4	Spring semester	
to ng.ut.u S. Minute		mil. If necessary par	ckets/transcripts ma	no later than 30 April. Email the completed packet by be mailed to G1 Education Services Office 12953	
1. Appli	cant's Name (Last, First, MI)	2. Email address:		3. Phone Number:	
4. Name	e of school you will be attending:	5. Student ID (if applicable):		6. Are you a scholarship cadet or an SMP with no requirement to complete AIT?	
7. Army	or Air National Guard?	8. Name of your military unit?		9. Current ETS	
	DENT CERTIFICATION I am MOS/AFSC qualified (or a C I am not on active dury (ADSW, A I am considered an in-state resider I do not have a 4-year degree I will be attending school full-time	GR) or have an ETP it by my college/univ		Initial Initial Initial Initial Initial	
11. Signa	ature		12: Date		
UTNG ST	W Form 1 Effective January 2025	Previous Edition are (Displete:	-1	